UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-9-2009

Funes v. Aardema Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35923

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from the Idaho State Commission wherein the Claimant, Filadelfo M. Funes, on January 29, 2005, sustained a farm related injury. Mr. Funes contended that as a result of said injury he had either sustained permanent total disability or substantial permanent partial disability. The Industrial Commission found that Mr. Funes, the Claimant/Appellant, was not totally disabled but rather had sustained only a 25% whole person physical disability.

Filadelfo M. Funes, Claimant/Appellant herein, was born in Honduras; received two years of elementary education; is able to speak the Spanish language; reads the Spanish language poorly; and, is unable to speak English. He became a legalized resident of the United States in 1998. **Tr.**, p. 20, LL. 5-21. In Honduras, Mr. Funes worked as a truck driver, operating a truck that carried approximately five tons, and he also worked as a taxi cab driver for 10 to 15 years. **Tr.**, p. 21. He came to the United States, moved to Idaho and engaged in manual heavy labor types of work, such as working in the potatoes, working for Rite Stuff lifting 50 to 60 pound baskets; and then working on dairies, which work involved milking and other dairy-related activities, which Mr. Funes described as heavy work. **Tr.**, pp. 21, 22, 23, 24,

25 and 26. Mr. Funes' earnings for the year 2003 was \$21,939.33; and for the year 2004 - \$24,174.85 Claimant's Rule 10, 8.

Mr. Funes, on January 29, 2005, sustained an on-the-job injury to his neck and lumbar spine. His treating physician was Dr. David Verst, of Hailey, Idaho, who specializes in "spine surgery". **Tr.**, p. 5, LL. 1-4. Dr. Verst, on May 2, 2005, performed a surgery which he described as a far lateral discectomy at the L5-S1 level, decompressing the exiting nerve root, which is the L5 nerve root. Dr. Verst diagnosed Mr. Funes' problem as a "far lateral disk herniation". **Tr**., p. 7, LL. 21-25; p. 8, LL. 1-7.

The operative report, dated May 2, 2005, showed that "[t]he patient presents with severe right leg pain. It has been ongoing for the past few months." **Defendant's Rule 10**, 3-13. The report further shows "[o]nce the discectomy was undertaken, the L5 nerve root was freed." **Defendants' Rule 10**, 3-14. Dr. Verst's office notes of July 21, 2005, state, "continues to struggle with back pain". **Defendants' Rule 10**, 3-23. A lumbar MRI exam was conducted on August 19, 2005, which showed post-operative changes at L5-S1 with enhancing scar tissue surrounding the right S1 nerve root and the right neural foramen. **Defendants' Rule 10**, 6-3.

Mr. Funes was examined by Dr. David M. Christensen on August 23, 2005. Dr. Christensen, a member of the Intermountain Spine & Orthopedics Clinic, in his report noted the following:

"That Mr. Funes' symptoms all began with the lifting incident and have not ceased since that time. The patient works feeding and moving calves. While

attempting to lift a calf that weighed between 130 and 150 pounds, the calf struggled and the patient immediately began experiencing pain in the region that he now currently complains of pain in. The pain has been near constant since the patient's injury, with only minor brief improvements with therapeutic injections and for a short period of time immediately following his discectomy."

At that time, Dr. Christensen believed that Mr. Funes' condition was not stable, and he placed restrictions on Mr. Funes' employment, which restrictions would be temporary in nature "until patient's clinical symptoms improve". Dr. Christensen's restrictions were:

"I believe Mr. Funes could work in a very limited capacity lifting no more than 10 pounds. He could stand, walk and sit on occasion but should not be required to stay in any one position more than 20 to 30 minutes at a time. He could also push pull up to 20 pounds."

Defendants' Rule 10, 2-5, 2-6.

In response to a letter of January 29, 2007, from Kathy Proctor of the

State Insurance Fund, Dr. Verst summarized Mr. Funes' medical problems as

follows:

"Diagnosis:

1. Mr. Funes suffers from chronic lumbar discogenic pain that associated with radiculitis secondary to scar tissue irritating the L5-S1 level....

The conditions responsible for the industrial accident include the discogenic pain and radiculitis secondary to scar tissue buildup and chronic pain secondary to global degenerative disc disease at the L5-S1 level....

Objective Findings correlating to his subjective complaints include radiculitis involving the right lower extremity that tends to travel in the L5 dermatome. He

has pain in the lower back with an altered gait secondary to pain. . .

At this juncture, Mr. Funes has failed to improve with conservative modalities following his surgery. He continues to struggle with back pain and radiculitis....

The lumbar spine is much more complicated secondary to the scarring around the nerve, discogenic pain, and foraminal stenosis....

Regarding work, Mr. Funes feels that he cannot work secondary to the amount of pain and disability he is currently suffering from. We are limited with job opportunities secondary to employability with Mr. Funes. He can only speak Spanish, education is limited, his working life is focused primarily on labor, and therefore at the current time we are very limited with his current abilities."

Defendants Rule 10, 3-32.

Dr. Verst noted in a report dated April 2, 2007, that Mr. Funes presents with chronic back pain with associated chronic right leg pain. Dr. Verst stated, "I suspect Mr. Funes suffers from neuropathic pain secondary to scar tissue around the nerve root." He also noted "[h]is symptoms far outweigh his objection MRI findings". Dr. Verst concluded,

"Mr. Funes does present with an impairment and disability as mentioned earlier. I strongly feel that we need to bring closure to Mr. Funes' case and provide him with the appropriate impairment and disability."

Defendant's Rule 10, 3-34.

Dr. Verst, in his deposition, stated:

[&]quot;A: And, he has pain in the lower back with altered gait secondary to pain."

- Q: Would you explain that sentence please.
- A: In each visit with Mr. Funes he had a cane in his hand and he walked with a fimited stance on his right leg. So when he would walk, he would put as little pressure and move that leg as quickly as possible to avoid any pressure on that leg. That is an abnormal gait that is considered an antalgic gait. I felt that his gait was altered because of pain.
- Q: And that would have been that would relate to the subject accident would it not doctor?
- A: Yes."

Verst depo., p. 32, LL. 23-25; p. 33, LL. 1-9.

In the taking of Dr. Verst's deposition, Dr. Verst was asked on direct

examination by counsel for the Defendants/Respondents the following question:

- "Q: Based on the last Functional Capacity Evaluation memo that you put down is it correct that you believe that Mr. Funes could have returned to work?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And that he can work to the as far as from an objective point of view, can return to any work that he was doing prior to the time of injury. Is that correct?
- A: Yes."

Verst depo., p. 25, LL. 17-25; p. 26, L. 1.

On cross-examination, Dr. Verst qualified his answer as follows:

"Q: Now you've stated in response to Mr. McFeeley's question, that you felt that Mr. Funes could return to the type of work that he was doing before this accident, which was working on a dairy farm, working with cattle, lifting calves up to 150 pounds. I would call that, I think, quite a vigorous type of employment. Are you recommending that he return

to that level of work with his back and the problems he's having?

- A: What I had stated is that patients that undergo microsurgery can get back to their normal jobs, their normal life, without the fear or risk of reherniation, reherniating a disc or creating any kind of mechanical instability. That is the 99.9% of patients that undergo microsurgery microdiscectomies. With Mr. Funes, he has the subjective complaints with very limited objective findings that substantiate those subjective complaints. What I had stated was that Mr. Funes could safely go back to work full time and go back to these types of activities without creating any harm to his back.
- Q: Okay. Now, that's from that would be kind of from a skeletal point of view. As far as anatomy is concerned the anatomy has been repaired to the point where he could return to that type of work without the fear of reherniating his back. That's what you're saying?
- A: Structurally yes.
- Q: Now we have to superimpose on that skeleton so to speak the factors of how that injury affects the particular individual and this particular injury with Mr. Funes has affected him to the point where he is suffering from continuous and chronic pain related to the subject accident. Isn't that true?

A: Yes."

Verst depo., p. 37, LL. 12-25; p. 38 LL. 1-24.

- "Q: If Mr. Funes said that when he's riding in a truck and his back bothers him from bouncing – other words, bouncing tends to produce pain – would that be a reasonable – would that be a reasonable thing for him to report, bouncing in a truck would cause back pain.
- A: Sure.

Q: And if it caused back pain that would be a type of work that he should probably not be involved in. Wouldn't you agree with that?

A: Yes.

Q: And you would agree with me that bodily movement is limited by pain.

A: Yes,"

Verst depo., p. 40, LL. 20-25; p. 41, LL. 1-9.

Gregory Dean Taylor, an employee with the Idaho Industrial Commission and a rehabilitation consultant, has worked in the Twin Falls office for 17 years and is familiar with the employment opportunities in central Idaho. **Tr.**, p. 98. Mr. Taylor first met Mr. Funes on March 23, 2005, as a referral from claims examiner Mike Fisher with the Defendant, State Insurance Fund. Mr. Taylor stated that Mr. Funes cooperated with him in making appointments and in working with him. "[h]e has been very good about coming in on a monthly basis." Mr. Taylor stated that he had been unable to find employment for Mr. Funes from which he, Mr. Funes, could earn a gainful living. **Tr.**, p. 100, LL. 12-17. Mr. Taylor stated that he tried to find light duty work for Mr. Funes with his employer, Defendant, Aardema Dairy, who provided a light duty job. The job consisted of driving a tractor, hauling water to calf pens. He also had another job where Mr. Funes could walk through cattle pens, tagging calf ears with identification tags. Mr. Funes tried the work and reported that driving the tractor was jarring and bouncing which caused back pain. **Tr.**, p. 101. Mr. Funes, at the time of hearing, testified as to his symptoms:

> "A: Well, because of the pain in my lower back I just have a lot of pain. There is no way that I can stay

sitting for a long time. I have to be moving because I get numb. That's the way it is. That's why I can't be standing for very long or sitting for very long. I just can't stand it. I can't take it being for a long time sitting or standing."

Tr., p. 43, LL. 2-9.

Mr. Funes continued:

"The doctor sent me back to work for 4 hours, but the first day it was really a sacrifice for me to stand 4 hours. But the first day I didn't even drive for 4 hours because the tank was empty. And so they had to fill the tank and then – with water. And then when I started driving, I was driving, but I was making a big effort. It was really a sacrifice for me because I really have problems with this leg. And when I finished driving and I was going back home, I couldn't stand the pain. And when I went back the next day and before I finished work, I just couldn't stand it. I couldn't stand the pain, and I had to leave. And I called the doctor before I finished my 4 hours."

Tr., p. 45, LL. 10-25; p. 46, L. 1.

With reference to returning to work, Mr. Funes continued:

- "Q: Now do you believe that you could return back to the type of work that you were doing before the accident? First of all I'll direct your attention to dairy type of work.
- A: Like the work that I was doing?
- Q: Yes. Before the accident referring now to dairy type of work.
- A: In the condition that I'm in no.
- Q: Explain please why not.
- A: Well because before, I didn't have any of the problems that I have now. I didn't have to walk with a cane or grab on to anything when I walk or when I worked. Now I feel like my waist shakes and I feel

pain and I don't have strength in my leg and my knee, my right leg.

- Q: Alright. Could you work a taxicab?
- A: I don't think I could that job as a taxi driver because a taxi driver has to pick up luggage. A taxi driver has to be able to pick up luggage. How could I bend over and pick up luggage and use both my hands with my lower back and my leg the way they are and with a cane?
- Q: Do you believe that you could return to a truck driving type of job?
- A: I couldn't do that. It's not that I don't want to do that. I'd much rather be working than have the problem that I'm getting by with right now and a truck driver, doesn't matter if you do short haul or long haul. You have to get up and down out of the truck and you have to be picking up chains and working with different packages and tools and I don't think I could drive a truck.
- Q: Is there any type of work that you know of that you believe you could perform in this locality the Twin Falls locality. That's Twin Falls, Idaho, Jerome, this whole surrounding area geographical area. Is there any type of work that you believe you could perform?
- A: Well, not here no. I don't think so because the man that finds work for people who are injured from here, Greg – I don't know his – well, any way, he wasn't able to find anything for me. And the situation that I'm in I don't think I could find work.
- Q: Are you willing have you been willing to go out and look for work?
- A: Well, if I were to go out and look for work in the situation that I'm in, I don't think I would find work because the man here wasn't able to find any work for me. One problem is that I can't read. I can't

write. I can barely write my name. Who would give me work like that?"

Tr., p.

Mr. Greg Taylor was questioned regarding the level of exertion

involved in the milking duties of a dairy:

- "A: Actually, milking is a pretty difficult job in that the workers are required to be on their feet the entire shift, whether it's 8 hours, 10 hours or 12 hours at some dairies. So they're constantly moving. They may milk as many as well, some dairies are set up with rows of 10 milking machines on each side. Smaller dairies may have 8. The largest ones I've seen had 16 milking machines on each side to where the workers are constantly moving, placing the milking machines on the cow and then taking it off when it's finished.
- Q: Okay. And why, in your opinion would Mr. Funes be unable to do that type of employment?
- A: Well several reasons. The necessity to be on his feet for the entire shift. There is some forward bending involved to reach with the machine into the utters and place the machine onto the utters. It's a very physical job. Constant moving.
- Q: How about employment working on a dairy driving a truck? Mr. Funes has had some of that experience. And would he be able to return to that type of work in your opinion?
- A: Well the work is available in the area. Based upon the medical reports, he would likely have some difficulty climbing in and out of the truck. The first step on a truck is roughly 18 inches from the ground. The second step is another 12 inches. And then pulling oneself into the cab would essentially make it 3 steps. And then the bouncing involved.
- Q: And bouncing?

- A: Um hum.
- Q: Would there be some lifting involved associated with truck driving?
- A: It would depend on the employer and their function. For example manure truck drivers do very little lifting. Milk tank drivers do a lot of climbing, lifting hoses. Beet truck drivers basically drive the truck with little lifting involved.
- Q: Okay. And working as a beet - do you think that he could work as a beet truck driver in your opinion?
 What problems might he experience in your opinion based upon the job of beet truck driving?
- A: Bouncing through the fields."

Tr., p. 102, LL. 19-25; p. 103, LL. 1-25.

At page 104, Mr. Taylor testified that he closed Mr. Funes' case. He

explained the reason as follows:

- "A: I didn't feel there was really anything I could do as far as helping Mr. Funes find employment. Mr. Funes felt he was not able to work and the medical restrictions were very restrictive as far as trying to help him find something within work he know how to do. He speaks Spanish only which limited the job market.
- Q: Now your record shows you have seen Mr. Funes numerous times for the past 3 years. Is that correct?
- A: Yes that is correct.
- Q: When people come in and talk to you and give you information do you observe their conduct, how they conduct themselves, how they move, how they walk, do you look at those things?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And why do you look at those things?

- A: Well I want to make sure that the verbal matches what I see, the verbal description of how they feel matches what I see and how they act.
- Q: Do you have a comment regarding that with reference to Mr. Funes as to how they feel, what they tell you and how he acts? Do you have a comment on that?
- A: Each time that Mr. Funes would come into the office he and his daughter who translated would discuss the pain he was having throughout his lower back and legs. He used a cane, gosh, I think almost the entire 3 years that I was working with him, at least 2 of the 3 years. I can't remember exactly when I first saw him use a cane but he used it for balance purposes. There were several times I saw him lose his balance and had to hold himself up with the cane.
- Q: And did you see something that you felt was deceptive about what he was telling you and how he was conducting himself physically?
- A: Well in my opinion no I didn't."

Tr., p. 106, LL. 9-25; p. 107, LL. 1-25.

On cross-examination by counsel for the Defendants/Respondents,

Mr. Taylor, in an effort to take a realistic approach to job availability for Mr. Funes,

stated:

"A: The reason for my hesitation, counsel, is I'm thinking over Mr. Funes' past work history and what he's limited to on a realistic basis as far as finding work. I believe that he's limited to agricultural work, dairy work, some service industries where there may be other, in his case, people who speak Spanish that could speak it him and give him instructions."

Tr., p. 121, LL. 7-23.

On April 12, 2007, the Defendant arranged for Mr. Funes to be examined in Boise by a panel of doctors namely Dr. Joseph Daines, Dr. Eric F. Holt and Dr. Richard W. Wilson. It was the opinion of Dr. Eric F. Holt that Mr. Funes was exaggerating his pain symptoms in a naïve and unsophisticated manner and was attempting to portray himself as an invalid so he would have secondary gain. Dr. Holt, at the conclusion of his report, noted that both himself and his secretary observed Mr. and Mrs. Funes coming and going from his office, "I left just after they did and observed Mr. Funes walking with his cane with an antalgic gait and his wife was walking in a normal manner. He entered the car in a slow and careful manner. His wife entered it in a normal manner." It was the panel's opinion that Mr. Funes, as a result of his work injury and lumbar laminectomy, would have a lifting limit of 50 pounds, 25 pounds on a regular basis, carrying 50 pounds on an occasional basis and limited stooping and bending. The panel was of the opinion that factors of secondary gain and misconception of his post-operative lumbar spinal anatomy was responsible for causing his persistent pain. Defendant's Rule 10, 6-8.

It should be noted that the panel, in reaching this conclusion, ignored their medical note on page 3 of their report with reference to the follow-up lumbar MRI exam on August 19, 2005, at Magic Valley Regional Medical Center, which report showed "post-operative changes at L5-S1 with enhancing scar tissue surrounding the right S1 nerve root and the right neural foramen", which finding was elaborated upon by Dr. Verst in his letter of January 29, 2007, wherein he stated: "Objective findings correlating to his subjective complaints include radiculitis involving the right lower extremity that tends to travel in the L5 dermatome. He has pain in the lower back with an altered gait secondary to pain."

Defendants' Rule 10, 3-32.

Now returning to Mr. McFeeley's examination of Mr. Taylor and assuming that the physical limitations imposed by the panel are correct and which limitations do not take into consideration the factor of pain, Mr. McFeeley, counsel for the Defendant/Respondent stated:

- "Q: There are job opportunities out there correct?
- A: Yes.
- Q: All right. There are Spanish speaking or only Spanish speaking people working at for example restaurants, correct?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Washing dishes you know, being cooks, being some sort of servers, a number of service related things correct?
- A: That's correct.
- Q: In many fast food restaurants for example; is that not correct?
- A: It's correct.
- Q: And a number of non-fast food restaurants; is that correct?
- A: That is correct.
- Q: And you expressed concern about Mr. Funes' English abilities correct?

A: Correct."

Tr., p. 122, LL. 11-25; p. 123, LL. 1-12.

Mr. McFeeley then continued:

- "Q: Any reason that he can't be a taxi driver physically?
- A: Physically the only drawback he would run into would be lifting heavy baggage. That's on a case by case situation for a passenger or passengers.
- Q: Any reason that he couldn't work as a truck driver where he indicated I believe, that he didn't really have to do much? He didn't have to load? Any physical limitations on that?
- A: Well, climbing into the truck would be the most difficult."

Tr., p.

On redirect examination Mr. Taylor was questioned as follows:

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