UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-1-2009

Funes v. Aardema Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35923

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The Idaho Supreme Court has recently reiterated the black letter law on its scope of review

of a decision of the Industrial Commission:

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a decision of the Industrial Commission, this Court exercises free review over questions of law, but reviews questions of fact only to determine whether substantial and competent evidence supports the Commission's findings. Neihart v. Universal Joint Auto Parts, Inc., 141 Idaho 801, 803, 118 P.3d 133, 135 (2005). Substantial and competent evidence is "relevant" evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." Id., quoting Boise Orthopedic Clinic v. Idaho State Ins. Fund, 128 Idaho 161, 164, 911 P.2d 754, 757 (1996). It is more than a scintilla of proof, but less than a preponderance. Jensen v. City of Pocatello, 135 Idaho 406, 412, 18 P.3d 211, 217 (2000). All facts and inferences will be viewed in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed before the Industrial Commission and the Commission's conclusions regarding credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. Neihart, 141 Idaho at 802-03, 118 P.3d at 134-135.

Stolle v. Bennett, 144 Idaho 44, 47-48, 156 P.3d 545, 549-50 (2007).

The scope of review is firmly established in the Idaho Constitution, the Idaho Code, and case law. On appeal, this Court's review of the decision from the Industrial Commission is limited to questions of law. Idaho Const. Art. V, §IX; I.C. §72-732; *Langley v. Idaho Industrial Special Indemnity Fund*, 126 Idaho 781, 784, 890 P.2d 732, 735 (1995); *Talbot v. Ames Construction*, 127 Idaho 648, 649-50, 904 P.2d 560, 561-62 (1995). "The law is well established that this Court does not scrutinize the weight and credibility of the evidence relied upon by the Commission and will

RESPONDENTS' REPLY BRIEF - 11 78009-315/178788

13 - (_ 1.5 1 ξ., ٤u 1 1 1 1 no den راعلاق و دون روحان فروسیا Construction of the second C · · ·

only disturb the Commission's findings as to weight and credibility if they are clearly erroneous." *Talbot*, 127 Idaho at 650, 904 P.2d at 562. Idaho Code §72-732 provides that the Court may only set aside an order of the Idaho Industrial Commission if the Commission's findings of fact are not based on any substantial competent evidence, the Commission has acted without jurisdiction or in excess of its powers, the order was procured by fraud, or the findings of fact do not as a matter of law support the order or award.

The Court in the *Talbot* case made the following observations which are equally applicable to the present circumstance:

On appeal, Talbot requests this Court to reconsider the testimony and evidence and to call into question and review the credibility determinations of the Commission. In addition, Talbot asks this Court to reconsider the testimony from one of Talbot's physicians and to engage in reweighing of the facts, contrary to the long established rule that this Court does not reweigh the findings of the Commission. Talbot essentially invites this Court to depart from the long standing and traditional scope of reviewing a decision from the Industrial Commission, as required by the Constitution, statutes, and a long line of case law, and review de novo the findings and credibility determinations of the Commission. No argument is made by Talbot that the Commission's findings are not supported by substantial, competent evidence in the record. In fact, at oral argument before this Court, the attorney for Talbot admitted without exception that the record contains substantial, competent evidence to support the Commission's findings. Additionally, no argument was made that the Commission's findings are clearly erroneous, that the conclusions are not supported by the findings, or that the Commission committed error as a matter of law. Talbot's single argument on appeal is a plea to this Court to call into question and review anew the findings of the Commission in the hope that this Court might come to a different conclusion than that of the Commission. This Court will not abandon established precedent and may not ignore the express directive of the Idaho Constitution and the Idaho Code. We will review the findings of the Commission on the

exclusive basis of determining whether the findings are supported by substantial and competent evidence in the record. *Langley*, 126 Idaho at 784, 890 P.2d at 735; *Roberts*, 124 Idaho at 947, 866 P.2d at 970.

Talbot, 127 Idaho at 650, 904 P.2d at 562.

¢ n

÷,

1.1

1

٢٦

. . .

Land T. Land

B. The Industrial Commission's Finding that the Claimant Was Not Totally and Permanently Disabled Is Supported by Substantial and Competent Evidence in the Record.

Claimant asserts on his "Issues on Appeal" that the Commission committed error in its failure to find that he was totally and permanently disabled or to find that he was classified as an Odd Lot worker, but does not support either issue in his briefing other than to assert that the Claimant is an Odd Lot worker. When the Court reviews the Commission's findings of fact on total disability (R. pp. 27-28), it will recognize that the Commission's findings are supported by substantial and competent evidence.

Whether a claimant is totally and permanently disabled is a question of fact. *Boley v. State*, 130 Idaho 278, 281, 939 P.2d 854, 856 (1997). In determining whether a claimant has met his burden of proving 100% disability, the Commission considers the nature of the injury, the claimant's age at the time of the accident, his occupation, his education level and his ability to work. I.C. §72-430. The primary focus when evaluating disability is the effect these factors have on the claimant's "present and probable future ability to engage in gainful employment." I.C. §72-425; *Jarvis v. Rexburg Nursing Center*, 136 Idaho 579, 583, 38 P.3d 617, 621 (2001); *McGee v. Thompson Creek Mining Co.*, 142 Idaho 761, 133 P.3d 1226 (2006). The only "evidence" that Claimant presented to the Commission is his testimony that he does not think that he can work, and the testimony of physicians and Mr. Taylor of ICRD that the Claimant told them he does not think he can work. This

does not carry his burden of proving total disability, and he makes no additional argument in his brief to this Court.

C. The Industrial Commission's Finding that the Claimant was Not an Odd Lot Worker Is Supported by Substantial and Competent Evidence in the Record.

At the Commission level, the Claimant bears the burden of proving of *prima facie* case for Odd Lot status. *Boley*, 130 Idaho at 281, 939 P.2d at 857. A *prima facie* case of Odd Lot status is only established "if the evidence is undisputed and is reasonably susceptible to only one interpretation." *Thompson v. Motel 6*, 135 Idaho 373, 376, 17 P.3d 874, 877 (2001).

Claimant has not borne his burden of establishing a *prima facie* case of odd-lot status by proving the unavailability of suitable work. *Huerta v. School District No. 431*, 116 Idaho 43, 47, 773 P.2d 1130, 1134 (1989). He must do more than assert that he cannot perform his previous type of employment. *Id.* at 49, 773 P.2d at 1136. Claimant did not even establish that he could not return to his previous employment, as Dr. Verst has stated that he could do so.

In order to carry his burden, the Claimant could have shown what other types of employment he had attempted; shown that vocational counselors or employment agencies or the Job Service had searched for other work and that such work was not available; or shown that any efforts to find suitable employment would have been futile. *Huerta* at 48, 773 P.2d at 1135. As to the first factor, the evidence clearly established that Claimant had not attempted other work for two and a half years. He did not show that any employment counselors had searched for work for him and that such work was not available. Mr. Taylor admitted that he had never searched for work for the Claimant since the Claimant had told him that he was not able to work. Finally, the Claimant did not show that any

1 :

1

1

* * • • •

: *

.

فريت مادهم

L <u>ر</u> ۲ į, ſ ÷. ر می اعدد ر می اعدد 1 d and a

efforts to find suitable employment would have been futile, as all of his physicians allowed him to return to work and his treating physicians and the IME Panel allowed him to return, if not to his preinjury work, at least to the work that he was assigned after surgery. Moreover, he had not attempted to find any jobs in the driving industry, even though he has at least 15 years of experience and his physical limitations would not preclude him from driving. Claimant has not shown medical inability to engage in gainful activities. *See Baldner v. Bennett*, 103 Idaho 458, 649 P.2d 1214 (1982). He received medical approval to return to work. Dr. Verst stated that, from an objective point of view, the Claimant could return to the work he was doing prior to the time of injury. (R., Verst Depo. at 25). The Commission's decision that Claimant did not prove he was an Odd Lot worker is supported by substantial and competent evidence.

D. Substantial and Competent Evidence Supports the Industrial Commission's Finding that the Claimant Was Entitled to a Permanent Partial Disability Rating of 25% of the Whole Person.

The degree of permanent disability resulting from an industrial injury is a question of fact. *McCabe v. JoAnn Stores, Inc.*, 145 Idaho 91, 95, 175 P.3d 170, 184 (2007); *Anderson v. Harper's, Inc.*, 143 Idaho 193, 195, 141 P.3d 1062, 1064 (2006). Here, as in *McCabe*, Claimant's assertions of error in determining permanent disability are in reality a challenge to the Commission's weighing of evidence. "It is a claimant who must bear the burden of proof in establishing that she is disabled in excess of impairment." *McCabe*, 145 Idaho at 96, 175 P.3d 780 at 785; *Bennett v. Clark Hereford Ranch*, 106 Idaho 438, 440, 680 P.2d 539, 541 (1984). Thus, the question before this Court is whether the Commission's determination that Claimant failed to carry his burden of proving that he was disabled in excess of 25% is supported by the factual record. Here, as in *McCabe*, "Because the

. Ł ۰ ۰ ۰.۰ gunten provides. Autoritationalise محمد المحمد المحمد المحمد dia manuficial di su di

record indicates that [the Claimant] failed to produce any substantial evidence bearing on [his] disability in excess of impairment," the Court should affirm the order of the Commission. *Id.* at 96, 175 P.3d at 785.

A claimant seeking compensation has the burden of proving a compensable disablement under the Idaho Workers' Compensation Act. Ogden v. Thompson, 128 Idaho 87, 910 P.2d 759 (1996). Proof must be in the form of expert medical evidence on the extent of any disability. The burden of proof always rests on the claimant. Sykes v. C.P. Clare & Co., 100 Idabo 761, 764, 604 P.2d 939, 943 (1980). Claimant here presented no proof, much less expert medical or vocational proof, that he was entitled to disability above his 10% impairment. See, e.g., Houser v. Southern Idaho Pipe & Steel, Inc., 103 Idaho 441, 445, 649 P.2d 1197, 1201 (1982). Idaho Code §72-425 provides that the evaluation or rating of permanent disability is "an appraisal of the injured employee's present and probable future ability to engage in gainful activity, as it is affected by the medical factor of permanent impairment and by pertinent non-medical factors [such as age, sex, education, economic and social environment] as provided in §72-430, I.C." Under the Idaho Workers' Compensation Law, "disability" is defined as a "decrease in wage earning capacity due to injury or occupational disease, as such capacity is affected by the medical factor of physical impairment, and by pertinent non-medical factors." I.C. §72-102(11). The burden of proof is always on the Claimant to prove disability in excess of his impairment rating. Seese v. Ideal of Idaho, Inc., 110 Idaho 32, 714 P.2d 1 (1985).

"Where a claimant has produced no significant evidence in the record which bears on a disability in excess of the permanent impairment rating, an additional award in excess of the impairment may not be sustained. Smith v. Payette County, 105 Idaho 618, 622, 671 P.2d 1081, 1085 (1983)." McCabe, supra at 96, 175 P.3d at 785.

The Commission need not make detailed findings on every fragment of evidence regarding degree of disability submitted to it. Swanson v. Kraft, Inc., 116 Idaho 315, 319, 775 P.2d 629, 633 (1989). As this Court stated in McCabe, "It is apparent from the record that the Commission considered the non-medical factors set forth in I.C. §72-430 as they affected [the Claimant's] ability to engage in gainful activity. As permitted by I.C. §72-506, the Commission adopted the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendation of the Referee as its own. By doing so, the Commission adopted the Referee's findings regarding the essential I.C. §72-430 non-medical factors addressed therein. Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co., 132 Idaho 513, 516, 975 P.2d 1178, 1181 (1991). These findings included, inter alia, [the Claimant's] age, educational background, employment history, employment history, occupation at the time of injury, nature of the injury, subsequent impairment, work limitations, post-injury labor market analysis, and her personal and economic circumstances." McCabe, 145 Idaho at 99, 175 P.3d at 788. In the present case, the evidence and the testimony of Dr. Verst in his post-hearing deposition and the testimony of Mr. Taylor of the Industrial Commission Rehabilitation Division are relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion. Zapata, 132 Idaho at 516, 975 P.2d at 1181. Claimant here failed to provide any evidence from a vocational analyst or a physician to carry his burden of proving that he was disabled more than the 25% disability awarded by the Commission.

"A determination by the Commission as to the degree of permanent disability resulting from an industrial injury is a factual question committed to the particular expertise of the Commission." *McCabe*, 145 Idaho at 99, 175 P.3d at 788; *Zapata*, 132 Idaho at 516, 975 P.2d at 1181. "The Court cannot re-weigh the evidence or consider whether it would have drawn a different conclusion from the evidence presented unless it is clearly erroneous." *McCabe*, 145 Idaho at 99, 175 P.3d at 788. The Commission in the present case did not err as a matter of law and its decision is not clearly erroneous. Claimant's physicians and the Independent Medical Examination Panel have all stated that the Claimant could (and should) return to work. Mr. Taylor of ICRD provided a labor market analysis showing that under the restrictions imposed by Dr. Verst, Dr. Wiggins, and the IME panel, the Claimant did have significant employment opportunities which would allow him to earn wages at a pre-injury status or close thereto. The Commission's finding is supported by substantial and competent evidence.

The only claim that the Claimant makes to this Court is that the Industrial Commission "ignored" evidence showing that the Claimant suffered from chronic pain. It is crystal clear, however, that the Industrial Commission considered Claimant's subjective complaints of pain, as well as the medical findings regarding pain. *See, e.g.,* Findings of Fact at R. p. 11, ¶¶11 and 12; p. 12, ¶14; p. 13, ¶19; p. 14, ¶24; p. 17, ¶37; and p. 18, ¶¶38-39.

Moreover, both Dr. Verst and Dr. Wiggins, as well as the IME panel, took into consideration the Claimant's reports of pain in their impairment ratings. (R., Defs.' Ex. 3, pp. 29, 30, 34; R., Claimant's Ex. 6 at 2/7/07 note; R., Defendants' Ex. 6 at p. 8 ("We agree with the previously noted impairment rating of 10% of the whole person as related to his lumbar laminectomy with residual subjective symptoms of back and leg discomfort."). Thus, the Industrial Commission did not ignore the issue of pain, but incorporated it into its decision finding a 25% disability. As the reports of

i. 1 1. . . 11 i. ; • . 4. 2 ر. ا المالي د. ا ر.....انارین میلانین

physicians take into account Claimant's complaints of pain, and the Commission considered these requests, there is substantial evidence supporting the Industrial Commission's finding. *See Pomerinke v. Excel Trucking Transport*, 124 Idaho 301, 305, 859 P.2d 337, 341 (1993).

E. Defendants Are Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees.

في) .

.

C + 1

· · · ·

· · · · · ·

÷.,

. . .

All Southern

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